
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

April 24, 2007 

 

The Regular City Council Meeting was called to order by Mayor Muschell in the Council Chambers 

in the City Hall at 7:00 p.m.  The proceedings were as follows: 

 

Present:  Council Members Lepp, Riddle, McCauslin, Charboneau, Muschell, Boardman, and Tebo 

 

Councilwoman Lepp led the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 

Approval of Agenda and Receive and File all Communications 

Mayor Muschell noted one addition to the agenda under General Business 10.E. Uniform Video 

Service Local Franchise Agreement. 

 

Councilman McCauslin moved to approve the agenda as amended and receive and file all 

communications.  Seconded by Councilman Charboneau.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Correction and Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes 

 Regular City Council Meeting –  April 10, 2007 

Councilman Boardman moved to approve the minutes of the April 10, 2007 Regular City Council 

Meeting as presented.  Seconded by Councilman McCauslin.  Motion carried unanimously.                

 

Public Comments 

Public comment portion of the meeting opened by Mayor Muschell. 

 

 Recycle Program  

Mr. William Burnett introduced himself, asking if the City Council has been approached about the 

recycling program that was discussed at the Cheboygan County Commissioners meeting this 

morning.   City Manager McNeil noted that he has provided Council with periodic reports based on 

his activity on the sub-Committee looking into a recycling program.   He explained that the County 

Board of Commissioners will ultimately receive a recommendation from the sub-Committee to put in 

place a recycling program and the Commissioners will have to decide by what means they want to 

make that happen.  City Manager McNeil commented that he expects the issue will be brought before 

Cheboygan County voters to either consider a surcharge or possibly a millage to support the program.   

 

 Footbridge Grant 

Mr. Burnett referred to the $50,000 grant for the footbridge, asking if that money could be better 

spent on improving streets, the sewer system, water mains and other items before allocating funds for 

the footbridge.  City Manager McNeil explained that the match funding for the footbridge will come 

from the Downtown Development Authority, and that DDA funds can only be used for what is 

specified in the DDA Plan.  He added that there is some call for the DDA to do some infrastructure 

work which they would be able to do based on the Plan but it has been the DDA Board’s decision to 

proceed with the footbridge project.   

 

There being no further comments from the public, the Public Comment portion of the meeting was 

closed by Mayor Muschell. 

 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 2 

Communications and Petitions 

 Request from GEFS Marine Terminal for Assistance and Support in Sale of Property on 

N. Huron Street 

City Manager McNeil noted that representatives from GEFS Marine Terminal are present to explain 

their request, and have provided a draft letter of support that Council could consider authorizing the 

Mayor to sign in response.   Ms. Linda Konicki stated that the partners of GEFS Marine Terminal are 

requesting assistance and written support from the City regarding their efforts to sell property on 

North Huron Street located directly next to the Cheboygan County Marina.  She explained that the 

property is currently listed with a real estate agent specializing in developing waterfront properties; 

however, two issues need to be corrected to make the property more desirable for development.  Ms. 

Konicki stated that one factor is that the property has a 30’ easement which runs across the entire 

riverfront that is reserved by the State of Michigan.  She noted that GEFS will be asking the State of 

Michigan to rescind the easement for development of the property.  Ms. Konicki commented that 

another issue pertains to the need for a driveway to be put in adjacent to the Cheboygan County 

Marina for access to the property.  She explained that when the property was purchased, the area was 

high and dry; however, wetlands have developed where none existed previously.  An inspection of 

the southwest corner of the site identified an unauthorized storm sewer discharge to the property 

which enhanced the wetlands, and a leaking sprinkler system owned by the Cheboygan County 

Marina was also identified as a problem.   Ms. Konicki stated that the City was made aware of the 

man-made wetland situation and steps have been taken to ensure that this occurrence will not happen 

again.  Additionally, GEFS Marine Terminal will be contacting the Department of Environmental 

Quality regarding putting a driveway in the affected wetland area and may have to do some 

mitigation regarding the property.  Ms. Konicki commented that GEFS Marine Terminal is requesting 

the support of the City of Cheboygan in the development of this site.  Mr. Sam Fralick of GEFS 

Marine Terminal explained the difficulties with the storm sewer system at the site and the original 

dry condition of the property.   Councilman McCauslin asked that once the property is dried out and 

the DEQ and DNR reappraise the situation, will someone be contacting Mr. Sheppler in Mackinaw 

City for possible sale to accommodate the permanent moorage of the Mackinaw.   He commented 

that Mr. Sheppler is on record as saying that he wants to do what is best for the Mackinaw and the 

original plans were to have the Ship moored permanently in Cheboygan.  Mr. Fralick indicated that 

Mr. Sheppler can provide an offer for the site.  Ms. Konicki added that GEFS Marine Terminal 

worked with the Save the Mackinaw Committee to find a solution for the Ship that would be 

mutually beneficial to GEFS and the City; however, GEFS would have had to incur too much 

liability.    

 

Mr. Fralick referred to the upcoming projects in Cheboygan and suggested that perhaps the City, 

Chamber of Commerce and DDA could collectively provide signage at the entrances to town 

requesting that visitors bear with the City while work is underway during these improvement stages.   

Council concurred that the suggestion regarding signage is a favorable concept.    

 

Mayor Muschell stated that with regard to the storm water running into the riverfront site under 

discussion, he recalls that when the area was surveyed for construction of the Cheboygan County 

Marina, that area was questionable as to whether or not any of that was actual wetland.   Additionally, 

the entire area dredged for the Cheboygan County Marina was in a similar situation.    He commented 

that the support of Council to approve the request from GEFS that the 30’ easement be rescinded by 

the State of Michigan would be beneficial in the potential sale and development of the property.   Mr. 

Fralick requested that a resolution rather than a motion be provided by Council.   Mayor Muschell 

commented that Council could vote on the issue as a resolution.    



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 3 

Councilman Tebo moved to draft a resolution authorizing the Mayor and City Council to sign in 

support of the request by GEFS Marine Terminal to assist in the sale of their property on North 

Huron Street, and that assisting GEFS Marine Terminal would include any revision of the wording of 

the resolution.  Additionally, the contents of the letter from GEFS Marine Terminal would be used to 

draft the resolution of support from the City Council.  Seconded by Councilman McCauslin.  Motion 

carried unanimously. 

 

Boards and Commission Reports 

 Cheboygan Department of Public Safety Monthly Statistics – March 2007 

The Department of Public Safety Monthly Statistics for March 2007 were received and reviewed.  

City Manager McNeil commented that as stated within the Strategic Plan and as the Objective 

relative to blight is addressed, the Department of Public Safety would be providing quarterly update 

reports on the enforcement portion of that Action Plan.   He added that Chief Jones has the first 

quarterly report to present to Council.  Chief Jones distributed a quarterly report on the enforcement 

of the Blight Ordinance, noting that this began the first of the year and as of April 24, 2007 the 

Department of Public Safety addressed 93 Ordinance violations.    He added that the Blight 

Ordinance violations involve unregistered-inoperable motor vehicles, yard violations and a sign 

violation, and that in some cases, several violations occurred at the same location.  Chief Jones 

provided a PowerPoint presentation which illustrates examples of the properties with blight issues 

within the City, noting that quite a few of the properties have been cleaned up while others are in 

pending litigation.  He commented that enforcement measures are primarily through Officer Frazier 

with assistance from some of the other officers and that Officer Frazier provides recommendations on 

how the property owner can eliminate the salvage and trash.  Chief Jones noted that many of the 

citations issued involved property owners that the Department of Public Safety has dealt with in the 

past, and others involve individuals cited several times.   

 

 Regular Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Board – April 9, 2007 

City Manager McNeil reported that the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Board was brought up 

to date with regard to the EPA Assessment Grant process, and the Authority reviewed its role with 

regard to sites identified that may be able to avail themselves to federal grant funding for phase one 

and phase two work.  He explained that those sites identified within the City would come to the 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and based on some pre-determined criteria, the Brownfield 

Authority would prioritize the sites and offer that information to the County.   The EPA Assessment 

Grant was acquired by Cheboygan County in cooperation with the City and provides $200,000 in 

grant funding for properties impacted by petroleum products and another $200,000 for properties 

impacted by hazardous materials.  City Manager McNeil stated that primarily at this meeting, the 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Board was brought up to date with regard to the process of that 

grant program and the role they play in that process.   

 

 Regular Human Relations Board Meeting – April 19, 2007 

City Manager McNeil stated that the Human Relations Board finalized the check list for the annual 

Martin Luther King Day event and tentatively approved speakers for next year’s event as well as 

discussed in a very preliminary fashion, consideration of sponsoring a pow-wow event with some of 

the Native American Tribes in the area.   

 

 

 

 



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 4 

Resolutions 

 Local Governing Body Resolution for Charitable Gaming Licenses – Cheboygan Area 

Hockey Association Raffle 

Councilman Charboneau moved to adopt the Local Governing Body Resolution for Charitable 

Gaming Licenses requested for a raffle by the Cheboygan Area Hockey Association.  Seconded by 

Councilman McCauslin.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

General Business 

 Consideration of a Grant Application to the Michigan Coastal Management Program 

for Cheboygan River Footbridge Project in the amount of $50,000 and to Adopt the City 

Council Resolution 

City Manager McNeil stated that as the DDA Board identified the footbridge project as the large 

capital project they wanted to fund, he researched grant options and identified two possibilities which 

he has since reported to the DDA and Council.  He noted that one grant option includes $.5 million in 

funding through the Michigan Department of Natural Resources Trust Fund that Council addressed 

last month and another source is the grant application in front of Council tonight with regard to the 

Michigan Coastal Management Program for a maximum of $50,000 in grant funding.  He commented 

that even though the DDA has authorized the matching funds for the grants, the grant requirements 

necessitate that the governing body approve a resolution for the grant.  The information included in 

the Michigan Coastal Management Program grant application is the same content as the previous 

application to the MDNR Trust Fund and the $50,000 in grant funding would augment matching 

funds from the DDA along with the $.5 million grant from the MDNR Trust Fund.    

 

Councilwoman Riddle moved to approve the submission of a Grant Application to the Michigan 

Coastal Management Program for the Cheboygan River Footbridge Project in the amount of $50,000 

and to adopt the City Council Resolution.  Seconded by Councilman Boardman.   

Yes votes:  Council Members, Riddle, Boardman, Charboneau, Tebo, McCauslin and Muschell 

No votes:  Councilwoman Lepp 

Motion carried. 

 

Councilman Tebo commented there may be some misunderstanding in the community about how the 

footbridge will be funded and to clarify that, there should be a public meeting to clarify some of the 

misconceptions.  He noted that he feels it is a good idea to have the footbridge but he feels there are 

many people in the community that fail to see the need or the benefit to the community.  A public 

meeting where residents could submit questions in writing or have an opportunity to ask questions of 

the City Council, City Manager McNeil and the DDA Board would be beneficial and would provide 

the community with correct and accurate information with regard to the footbridge.    

 

Councilman Tebo moved to schedule a public meeting in the Opera House at a subsequent date to be 

determined, with regard to the footbridge, to include funding information as well as the need, 

inception, and overall use for the footbridge in an effort to provide more information to the public.  

Additionally, any questions or concerns regarding the footbridge could be submitted in writing or 

verbally and addressed by the City Council, City Manager McNeil and the Downtown Development 

Authority Board with representatives of the Chamber of Commerce and the Hyatt-Palma Group 

present at the meeting.    Seconded by the Councilwoman Lepp.  City Manager McNeil noted that the 

meeting recommendation could be placed on the agenda of the next DDA Board meeting which is 

one week from tonight.  

 Yes votes:  Council Members Boardman, Lepp, Tebo, McCauslin, Muschell and Riddle 



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 5 

No votes:  Councilman Charboneau 

Motion carried.  

 

 Consideration of Modification to Retirement Health Benefit Policy 

City Manager McNeil deferred to Clerk/Treasurer Kwiatkowski for a report.  Clerk/Treasurer 

Kwiatkowski explained that this issue came about as a result of a request from Mr. Rick Winters, to 

obtain individual health insurance coverage upon retirement rather than the retiree group coverage 

offered by the City.  Clerk/Treasurer Kwiatkowski stated that he conducted extensive research with 

the primary goal of making the individual coverage a tax exempt benefit which he was unable to do.  

He noted that he met with Mr. Kelly Cooper of BK&C and consulted with Mr. Gary DeFoe of Blue 

Cross/Blue Shield to determine what the City could and could not do as far as an alternative plan 

supported by the City.   Clerk/Treasurer Kwiatkowski stated that many issues were discussed and 

what was determined is that a request from the City would have to be in writing and would require 

extensive documentation, and ultimately approved by the Underwriting Division of Blue Cross/Blue 

Shield.  He noted that because of the questions posed with regard to the City’s current plan, and the 

information provided, Mr. DaFoe indicated that there is a high probability that Blue Cross/Blue 

Shield would deny the request.   Additionally, it is certain that BCBS would not allow each retiree to 

come before Council and set up their own suffix tailored to their particular needs.  Clerk/Treasurer 

Kwiatkowski stated with that in mind, his recommendation is that the City’s existing Retirement 

Health Benefit Policy be modified to allow retirees to obtain individual health insurance coverage 

outside the coverage that the City offers; however, proof of coverage would need to be provided by 

the retiree and payment would be issued directly to the retiree with a 1099 form issued at the end of 

each year for that taxable income.   City Manager McNeil stated that with Council’s concurrence, a 

draft of a modified Retirement Health Insurance Policy could be provided to Council that would 

retain the existing language as well as add the ability of the future retiree to receive payment from the 

City based on the current retiree policy in order to obtain their own health insurance coverage, with 

the understanding that the benefit is taxable and that the policy could contain the possibility of 

another plan or suffix to be added which would be understood and written into the policy that is 

purely up to the providers in place, whether that is Blue Cross/Blue Shield or Priority Health.   Mayor 

Muschell commented that any action taken by Council tonight is dependent upon suggestions or 

proposals with what the draft Retirement Health Insurance Policy will be.  City Manager McNeil 

indicated that is correct, noting that based on the information available, he is comfortable with being 

able to draft a modified Retirement Health Insurance policy for Council to consider.  

 

Councilman Tebo moved to authorize City Manager McNeil, Clerk/Treasurer Kwiatkowski and legal 

counsel to draft a proposal with regard to modification of the City of Cheboygan Retirement Health 

Insurance Policy and present the information at the June 12, 2007 City Council meeting for 

consideration.   Seconded by Councilwoman Riddle.   Mr. Rick Winters questioned the timeframe in 

providing a decision regarding the retirement health insurance issue.  City Manager McNeil indicated 

that the information would be provided as soon as possible.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

 Consideration of a Lease with State of Michigan regarding the Cheboygan Crib Light 

and Walkway and License for Use of E. Sixth Street Right of Way by the State of 

Michigan DNR 

City Manager McNeil stated that discussions have been ongoing for quite some time with regard to 

the use of the east Sixth Street right-of-way.  He explained that the City acquired official ownership 

of the Crib Light; however the Crib Light is located on DNR property.  The City was assured by the 

DNR at the time the City acquired the Crib Light from the federal government that the DNR would 



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 6 

work with the City in the future on securing the property it sits on.  In exchange for the Crib Light 

sitting on the DNR property, the DNR is requesting a license to use the East Sixth Street right-of-way 

which is adjacent to their maintenance facility on the Cheboygan River.  City Manager McNeil stated 

that the agreement before Council contains that language.  Additionally, this is consistent with the 

City’s recent efforts to license the use of right-of-ways to governmental entities as opposed to private 

entities.   Councilwoman Riddle questioned if this creates any additional confusion on that particular 

piece of property.  City Manager McNeil noted that this adds clarity.   

 

Councilman McCauslin moved to approve the Lease between the State of Michigan, as Lessor and 

the City of Cheboygan, as Lessee, with regard to the Cheboygan Crib Light and Walkway and to 

authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to execute the same on behalf of the City, AND to approve the 

City of Cheboygan License (Permit) for the use of the E. Sixth Street Right-of-Way by the State of 

Michigan DNR and authorize the City Clerk to execute the same on behalf of the City of Cheboygan.  

Seconded by Councilwoman Lepp.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

 Consideration to Facilitate a Grant Application on Behalf of Hospice of the Straits  

City Manager McNeil commented that representatives of Hospice of the Straits are present to explain 

the grant application presented for consideration.  Ms. Patricia Serwach, Business Development 

Director for VitalCare introduced herself, commenting that she represents Hospice of the Straits.  She 

explained the history of the Hospice House project, commenting that the addition of a reflection 

garden on the grounds has been a vision for quite some time.   Ms. Serwach noted that addition of 

more patient rooms at Hospice House was considered but the current number has been determined 

adequate, and that what is actually needed is more gathering space for patients and visitors, which is 

how the concept of a solarium integrated with a beautiful garden project on the outside evolved.  A 

capital campaign to raise funds for the $400,000 project will be underway soon but support is needed 

from the City to submit a grant application to the Michigan Council for the Arts, Capital 

Improvement Campaign.  Ms. Serwach explained that the grant is only provided to municipalities; 

however, nonprofit organizations could act as sub-grantees.  She requested that Council take that role 

and approve support and submission of the grant application on behalf of VitalCare Hospice of the 

Straits for this project.   Ms. Serwach provided preliminary designs of the solarium and garden 

project.  Mayor Muschell questioned if there is any idea on how successful Hospice of the Straits will 

be with some of the grant applications.  Ms. Serwach noted that the success with the grant application 

is uncertain; however, Hospice of the Straits has enormous support from the community and is 

hoping to eventually obtain a Kellogg Foundation matching fund grant toward the end of the project.   

She commented that although the capital campaign has not officially begun, $65,000 has been raised 

to date and that the campaign is anticipated to be ongoing until September 2008.   

 

Councilman McCauslin moved to approve support of the grant application and submission of the 

same for Hospice of the Straits and to authorize the Mayor and City Manager to sign the same on 

behalf of the City of Cheboygan.  Seconded by Councilman Charboneau.  Motion carried 

unanimously. 

 

 Consideration of Uniform Video Service Local Franchise Agreement 

City Manager McNeil stated that consideration of a Uniform Video Service Local Franchise 

Agreement is being provided pursuant to Public Act 480 of 2006 which provides a thirty day period 

for a municipality to act on an agreement through the local video provider and if no action is taken, 

the agreement is deemed approved as submitted.  He commented that upon review of this particular 

agreement, an incorrect governmental jurisdiction was noted on the document attachment and Charter 



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 7 

Communication has been advised of the error.   A response with additional legal information was 

provided by Charter Communication which was verified as correct by the City’s legal counsel.   City 

Manager McNeil noted that the City Attorney has reviewed the agreement and believes this to be in 

accordance with the Statute.  He stated the reason the issue is brought to the City Council is to 

determine if the 5% fee on gross revenues as described in the agreement should be added and whether 

an additional 2% should be added in support of any future public education or governmental 

channels.  He stated that Council needs to understand that Charter Communications has the ability to 

add the 5% fee if Council chooses to include the fee on user billings.  City Manager McNeil 

commented that Clerk/Treasurer Kwiatkowski conducted some research on this issue and has 

consulted with the Michigan Municipal League who indicated that most cities take advantage of the 

5% fee on gross revenues.  He added that the 2% fee activates only in the event the City decides to 

provide a public educational or governmental channel and those funds would help support costs the 

City would incur to operate that program.  City Manager McNeil stated that the form before Council 

has the 5% entered into it and the statute says that the video providers will provide a charge up to 5%.  

He reiterated that if no action is taken by the City, the agreement would be deemed approved.   City 

Manager McNeil stated that he has not had the opportunity to research this issue as much as he would 

like, but one of the reasons most of the cities are adding the 5% fee is that all of the communication 

companies have the ability to apply for a credit in the Metro Act payments and as a result, the Metro 

Act fund becomes diluted to some degree and many of the municipalities feel that in order to keep 

revenues on an even keel, the 5% needs to be put into place.  He reiterated that he has not done 

enough research to verify what would actually happen through all the formulas that go on with regard 

to the Metro Act, adding that the City does receive revenue from the Metro Act into our Local Street 

Funds.  Councilwoman Riddle commented that that there is a possibility that the only way the City 

would receive that revenue is by agreeing to go into partnership with the cable company in terms of 

applying the extra 5% onto the cable bills.  City Manager McNeil indicated that this could be 

perceived as a partnership; however, the agreement is basically the ability to receive up to 5% of 

gross revenues and with the cable company having the ability to include the fee on customer billings.     

 

Councilwoman Riddle moved that Council approve the application as submitted by Charter 

Communications, which was submitted without an indication of additional revenue to the City.  

Seconded by Councilwoman Lepp.    

 

Councilwoman Lepp asked how much the City would receive with 5% of the revenue.  City Manager 

McNeil indicated that he is unsure.  He noted that the agreement provides for the ability for the City 

to call an audit once every two years and sets forth the rules for that particular audit.  Councilwoman 

Lepp asks what the City currently receives from the cable company.  City Manager McNeil replied 

that nothing is received from Charter Communications but the City does receive funds from Metro 

Act fees which all communication companies pay into the State for use of right-of-ways; however, 

that is a separate issue.   Clerk/Treasurer Kwiatkowski reiterated that in speaking with the Michigan 

Municipal League, the MML recommends the agreement be approved with the 5% included as most 

other cities within Michigan are doing as well.  Councilwoman Riddle stated that there has always 

been the availability of an audit.  She asked if there has been a change in how that audit is done.  City 

Manager McNeil noted that what Councilwoman Riddle may be referring to is the City’s ability to 

regulate basic cable television rates which is an entirely different process.  This issue is the result of 

an entirely new statute and began with efforts of the communication companies lobbying for easier 

access to right-of-ways and expanding their communication companies, and this is a compromise that 

was reached in Lansing as a result of that.  He explained that this agreement allows for a little more 

carte blanche use of right-of-ways, and provides for communications companies to operate under 

what rules currently exist, and the City may have to take a very good look at our Ordinances relative 



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 8 

to the regulation of right-of-ways as a result.  City Manager McNeil reiterated that this is basically 

the result of a compromise in Lansing where communications companies want better access to local 

right-of-ways and being able to by-pass local red tape, and the ability for local governments to obtain 

revenues and have all the provisions for use of right-of-ways that are standardized under one 

agreement throughout the State of Michigan.  He commented that is the issue before Council and that 

is why most of the cities are opting into the plan and is not because as he has stated, the 

communications companies are subject to competition from all the satellite communications and 

televisions that are not always subject to these provisions in this type of agreement.  

 

Motion carried unanimously.   

 

City Clerk’s and Treasurer’s Comments 

 Cheboygan Area School Election – May 8, 2007 

Clerk/Treasurer Kwiatkowski commented on the school election being held on May 8, 2007.    

 

City Manager’s Report 

 2007 Water Main Project Update 

City Manager McNeil referred to solicitation of bids with regard to the water main project, noting 

that bids are due May 3, 2007 and the result of those bids should be before Council at the next City 

Council meeting.  He commented that bids for the bonds will also be reviewed.  A map of the scope 

of the project is available for review.  City Manager McNeil noted that the portion on Main Street has 

been reduced and added to the 2009 Main Street project which will benefit the City in that funding is 

primarily through federal sources with some State and City funding.   He added that Council, at the 

next meeting, will also be reviewing the future capital improvement plan for the water system as that 

is refined with the engineers.   Councilman McCauslin questioned the start date and location where 

work will begin on the water main project, commenting that he would like to see work begin on 

Duncan Avenue.   City Manager McNeil replied that the start date will depend on the contractor but 

based on the engineers, ground breaking is anticipated for the first part of June.  He added that the 

location of where the work will begin has not been determined by the contractor other than that the 

Main Street portion will be done after September 1.  Councilman Tebo asked if there were many 

local contractors that have indicated interest in the project.  City Manager McNeil stated that none 

have stopped by City Hall to look at specifications and he has not spoken to the engineers with regard 

to that.   He added that one local contractor expressed an interest but was concerned with being able 

to do a portion of the project on Main Street.   

 

 Brownfield Assessment Grants Update 

City Manager McNeil referred to a copy of the PowerPoint presentation provided by the consultants 

at the last Cheboygan County Economic Development Corporation meeting relative to the 

Brownfield Assessment Grant project.  He explained that the first phase of this project consists of site 

identification, adding that the whole idea for this grant program is to provide funds to position 

possibly contaminated properties for redevelopment.  City Manager McNeil stated that the overall 

objective is economic development in the City and County.  He commented that the first portion is to 

identify sites and that is being done through a variety of means including a review of all data bases 

that have current contaminated sites identified.  Other stakeholders such as realtors, local developers 

and others in that field will be consulted.  Additionally, there will also be two public forums in the 

County.  City Manager McNeil noted that the public forum for the City of Cheboygan will be held 

Monday, May 14 at City Hall and the other will be held on May 29 at Tuscarora Township Hall.  He 

added that Mr. Mac McClelland of Otwell Mawby, the consultant on the project, will explain the 



Regular City Council Meeting – April 24, 2007 

 9 

process and then at the end of the meeting those attending will break up into work groups to discuss 

sites within the City of Cheboygan and what kind of activity might have taken place on those sites 

historically, to start building the list of possible sites.  City Manager McNeil commented that this is 

anticipated to be a three-year program which is now underway.  He added that Otwell Mawby is the 

consultants for the program and the Northern Lakes Economic Alliance will administer the grant.    

Councilwoman Lepp asked if the former Woolworth building qualifies for this project.  City Manager 

McNeil stated that there may be some opportunities which will be investigated further.   

 

Messages and Communications from Mayor and Council Members 

 Signage at Lincoln Avenue Bridge Project 

Mayor Muschell referred to the request from First Federal Bank of Northern Michigan regarding 

signage at the Lincoln Avenue Bridge construction site.  City Manager McNeil commented that the 

request would need the approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals as this applies to an off-premise 

signage issue which is prohibited by City Ordinance and would require either a variance based on the 

criteria that the Board of Appeals has to review or a change in the Ordinance that would allow that 

type of signage.  Councilman McCauslin commented that there have been signs similar to that on 

other sites in the past, asking what makes this situation unique.  City Manager McNeil explained that 

what Councilman McCauslin may be referring to is when a contractor erects a sign while a project is 

underway, which is not contrary to the Ordinance.  This particular case involves a private commercial 

entity advertising their business off-site on a public project.   Mayor Muschell asked if Council could 

make an appeal on their behalf.  City Manager McNeil commented that he would not recommend 

that, explaining that there have been many banks that have bid on bonds on public projects without 

erecting signage; however, if that is something Council would like to encourage, the Ordinance could 

be changed.   He noted that the current Ordinance is very strict on off-premise signage, and requires 

signage on-site or where the business is located that is being advertised with the exception of 

industrial zoned properties.  Councilwoman Lepp commented that the problem is that signage was 

authorized against City Ordinance.  City Manager McNeil stated that Council’s approval was 

contingent upon the signage applying to regulations.   Councilwoman Lepp questioned how the 

matter should be rectified.  Councilman McCauslin recommended that First Federal Bank of 

Northern Michigan should be notified of the Ordinance violation and that the matter could be pursued 

through the Zoning Board of Appeals.  City Manager McNeil indicated that could be done and that he 

has already provided written notification to the Bank.    

 

Adjournment 

Councilwoman Lepp moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:23 p.m.  Seconded by Councilman 

Boardman.    Motion carried unanimously. 

 

_________________________________                              _________________________________ 

Mayor James Muschell                                                           City Clerk Kenneth J. Kwiatkowski 

 

_________________________________                               _________________________________ 

Councilman Scott McCauslin                                                 Councilman Gerald R. Boardman 

 

________________________________                                _________________________________ 

Councilwoman Winifred L. Riddle                                        Councilman Charles Charboneau 

 

 ________________________________                               _________________________________ 

Councilman Leslie A. Tebo                                                    Councilwoman Theo Lepp    

 


